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PER CURIAM:”

On January 2, 1996, Gerardo Ramirez pleaded guilty to failing to appear for sentencing in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 3146(a) and (b)(1)(A)(I). The district court sentenced Ramirez to 24
months imprisonment to run consecutively with the 108 month sentence aready imposed for the

underlying offense of possession with intent to distribute marijuana. Ramirez appeals.

"Pursuant to 5TH CIR. R. 47.5, the Court has determined that this opinion should not be
published and is not precedent except under the limited circumstancesset forthin5THCIR. R. 47.5.4.



First, Ramirez argues that the district court erred in calculating his criminal history score for
thefailureto appear offense. Thedistrict court found that Ramirez had eight criminal history points.
These included three for the underlying drug offense, three for a 1988 conviction for conspiracy to
possess with intent to distribute marijuana, and two for committing the current offense while on
supervised release. This score placed Ramirez in criminal history category 1V. Ramirez argues that
his correct crimina history score was five, placing himin crimina history category 111, because the
district court erredin ng three pointsfor the underlying drug conviction. Ramirez did not raise
thisissue in the district court. We review this argument for plain error.? Although we find that the
district court should not have included the underlying drug conviction in the criminal history score
calculation,® we find that no reversible error was committed. Ramirez was sentenced to 24 months
imprisonment, a sentence within the appropriate guideline range for acrimina history category 1l
offender.*

Ramirez also argues that the district court erred by failing to group the underlying offense
with the charge of faillure to appear. We disagree. In United Statesv. Packer, this Court expressly
rejected the argument that acharge of failure to appear must begrouped with the underlying offense.

Findly, Ramirez maintainsthat the district court erred by imposing a sentence for the failure

2 United Sates v. Calverley, 37 F.3d 160, 162-4 (5th Cir. 1994).

3 U.S.S.G. § 2J1.6 (Application Note 4).
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Theoffenselevel for Ramirez sfailureto appear was 13. Thislevel iscal culated based
upon a base offense level of six, a nine level enhancement because the underlying offense was
punishable by aterm of morethan 15 years, and atwo level decreasefor acceptance of responsibility.
See U.S.S.G. § 2716 (a)(2) and (b)(2)(A). The guideline range for an offense level of 13 and a
Criminal History Category of 111 is 18 to 24 months. Ramirez’ s sentence was within this range.

° United States v. Packer, 70 F.3d 357, 359-60 (5th Cir. 1995).

2



to appear charge after the court enhanced the sentence on the underlying count for obstruction of
justice. When reviewing a sentence, we will uphold that sentence unlessit wasimposed in violation
of the law, imposed as a result of an incorrect application of the guidelines, or was outside the
appropriate guideline range.® We find that no reversible error was committed in this case. For
present purposes, we will assume that Ramirez' s argument is correct, and the district court could
either impose separate sentences for the two offenses or could enhance the sentence for the
underlying offense for obstruction of justice. Under either approach, Ramirez' s sentence is within
the appropriate guideline range. Under the first approach, Ramirez’'s sentence for the underlying
offensewould be cal cul ated using an offense level of 277 and acriminal history scoreof |11, providing
for asentencing range of 87 to 108 months' imprisonment. The district court sentenced Ramirez to
108 months on the underlying offense, a sentence within the range. Under the second approach,
Ramirez’ ssentencewould be cal cul ated based upon an offenselevel of 29,2 providing for asentencing
range of between 108 and 135 months. Thetotal sentence imposed on Ramirez for the two offenses
was 132 moths' imprisonment, also within the guideline range. No reversible error was committed.

The judgment is AFFIRMED.

® United Sates v. Garcia, 962 F.2d 479, 480-1 (5th Cir. 1992).

! Thebase offenseleve for thisdrug offenseinvolving 909 kilograms of cocainewould

be30. U.S.S.G. §2D1.1. Thedistrict court granted Ramirez athree level downward departure for
acceptance of responsibility. Thiswould give Ramirez an offense level of 27.

8 Thislevd iscalculated the same as above with atwo leve increase for obstruction of

justice. U.S.S.G. §3C1.1.



